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the University's medical library. Or. A. W. S. Sichel was
the hon. librarian of the Branch at the time. In April
1936 agreement was reached on the incorporation, subject
to certain conditions. The Branch retained its property
which was always to be readily identifiable, and its
members allowed free borrowing privileges, while provision
wa made for country members, too, to have literature
upplied to them. The Cape Western Branch continued

to sub cribe to and bind journals it was already taking.
By the end of World War II the medical library was

bur ting its seam, even though from time to time it was
given additional space until it occupied 8 different rooms
on various floors of the pathology block. The need for
a new medical library was actually discussed as far back
as 1936. Various sites were considered from time to time.
At one time Dr. C. L. Herman, who died in 1940, con­
templated leaving money for a medical library to be
named after him, but on account of the delay this never
materialized, and he left £40,000 instead for medical
research.

The new medical library, designed by Mr. F. L. Sturrock
of the firm of Thornton White, Pryce Lewis and Sturrock,
was completed in September 1953 at a cost of £90,500,
and well situated between the Groote Schuur Hospital,
the Medical Residence and the Medical School buildings.
Although not yet completely furnished, the library was
formally opened on 19 January 1954 by the University
Chancellor, the Hon. A. v. d. Sandt Centlivres.

The medical library, which is the largest branch of the
University of Cape Town library, has a staff of 3 full-time
and 2 part-time professional librarians, a clerical assistant,
as well as a stackroom and cleaning staff of 4. The
medical library is chiefly a reference library and caters

largely for postgraduate readers. Its services extend far
beyond the physical boundaries of the University, since
a large postal service is conducted for country members
of the Medical Association. Country members are entitled
to the same bibliographical servic~s as urban members
enjoy, such as the compilation of bibliographies, the
carching for information in answer to reference queries,

and supplying photographic services. Literature not avail­
able from the library stock is supplemented by a very
extensive inter-library loan system and by the importation
of microfilms and photo-copies from abroad.

The new medical library has a specially equipped room
set aside for reading microfilms. Seating accommodation
for about 200 readers is provided in the various reading
rooms. A pleasant feature of the library is the Doctors'
Room which is reserved for medical men and postgraduate
research workers. Various donors have been responsible
for furnishing this room, which is also available for
evening meetings of any medical society. A separate
entrance for this purpose was provided when the library
was planned. The display case in the vestibule of the
medical library was donated by the present honorary
librarian of the Cape Western Branch, Dr. Harold
Hofmeyr.

The medical library has a stock of about 42,000 volumes
and receives currently about 1,200 different serials, which
have been acquired by subscription, exchange and dona­
tion. All duplicates are made available to other medical
libraries that lack these titles. Periodicals constitute about
three-quarters of the stock. There are, too, collections of
medical history, medical theses, medical Africana and
reference books. These sections are limited to use in the
library only, but copied extracts may be provided if
required.
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SHAWCO is a registered welfare agency helping thousands
of the Cape Peninsula's most desperately underprivileged
people. It functions mainly in the Windermere slumland,
6 mile from central Cape Town, where a large community
of Africans and Cape Coloureds has manifested every
conceivable aspect of socio-economic failure. It also in­
corporates three separate clinics in other poverty-stricken
area . The unique feature is that the entire project, since
its earliest days, ha been the responsibility and achieve­
ment of students of the University of Cape Town. Staff
members only participate as advisers or medical consul­
tants, but in recent years the growing volume of work
has nece sitated the appointment of a full-time warden
and social workers. Medical students initiated and
e tablished all the work of the 4 clinics and have promoted
SHAWCO's formation on the framework of the first of
these; non-medical students have done much of
SHAWCO's other work. Students are largely responsible
for the policy and general management, and this is en-
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sured by their majority representation on all committees
and governing bodies. It is the enthusiastic Rag effort of
the whole student body that provides the bulk of the
finances on which SHAWCO depends.

HISTORY OF THE SruDEl'ITS' CLINICS AND SHAWCO

In 1943 a handful of medical students, with some essential
drugs donated by the City Council and makeshift equipment,
started the Students' Kensington Clinic from which all future
developments stemmed. A few University doctors alternated as
consultants; one of them was chairman, and a senior student
was elected annually as clinic director. For the first decade
the main work was a free medical service for poverty-stricken
p<:0ple of ~hom 80 - 120 crowded into each Friday night
clImc held ID the AME Church school on the fringe of
Windermere. Facilities were primitive - the luxury of running
w~ll~r came only after 5 years! But from tenuous origins the
clImc slowly strengthened as more students joined and the
consultant roster enlar~ed. Welfare work was hopelessly
handicapped in the 19405; indeed, the civic authorities were
only just starting to plan an approach to the enormous
Windermere slum problems. However, the Clinic did act: it
engaged a part-time social worker, subsidized some essential
foodstuffs for starving people, collaborated with CAFDA, and
began a fruitful association with the Union of Jewish
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Women (U1W) who ran a creche and feeding scheme at the
school.

From the late 19403 the Rag, ever the potentiating ally,
annually allocated. large sum~ t? the Clinic, which was thereby
enable~ to erect Its own bUIldl?g on land given by the City
Council m the heart of Wmdermere. This 'Windermere
Centre', launched in 1952 in collaboration with CAFDA and
the U1W, gave good facilities for clinical work and social
welfare activities.
T~en medi~1 students pre.ssed for a more comprehensive

service and, wmnmg th~ Umversity's wholehearted approval,
SHAWCO was formed In 1953 to take over the Windermere
Centre and to develop medical, social welfare and educa­
tional work there. ~rom then on the project became a com­
mitment of the entire student body and it gave SHAWCO
most of the Rag funds with a small allocation to three inde­
pendent clinics which medical students had started in
Retreat, Prince George Drive, and Elsies River during the
previous 7 years.
. SHAweo's ad~ances thereafter included appointing a part­

time medical. ?fflcer (a me.mt.Jer of the University's depart­
ment of medlcme who .speclalizes in social or comprehensive
medicIne) and a full-time warden and social workers· the
Centre's buildi~g. was ext~nded in 1959 and the 3 ind~pen­
dent student cllmcs were Incorporated in 1961.

THE WORK OF SHAweo
All Rag funds (varying from RI 5,000 - 19,000 in recent
years) now go to SHAWCO. In addition, there is an
annual grant of RI,ooo from the Cape Town City Council,
and thiS year the Cape Provincial Administration has
initiated an annual grant of R3,000. These, together with
some individual donations, provide SHAWCO's entire
budget for the medical care, social welfare and education
of many thousands of indigent persons each year. In 1962,
more than 15,000 patients were provided with free
medical treatment at the 4 SHAWCO clinics. Routine
medical care is also provided for the 120 babies who
attend the Union of Jewish Women's creche. (The UJW
provide the valuable service of a kitchen and staff for
feeding 70 - 80 old, infirm and needy people every day.)

At present, the medical activities of SHAWCO at
Windermere centres round 3 clinics. The largest is the
'open clinic' which is held on Thursday night. This is a
continuation of the original 'free dispensary' type clinic
with which SHAWCO started - but it' is doubtful whether
the pioneers of SHAWCO would recognize it as such.
From 150 to 200 patients attend each session, and the
clinic is entirely staffed by students; professional staff
only attend as consultants. The work is divided among
the students according to their seniority. Thus, the 2nd
years take the temperatures and weights of all the
patients on arrival, 3rd year students take blood samples
for WR and other tests, and later dispense medicines, give
injections and apply dressings. The 4th, 5th and 6th year
students are divided into 3 'firms' and deal with the clini­
cal and social problems of their patients. Each firm is in
the charge of a student 'chief', and patients who return
are always seen by members of the same firm; in this way
continuity of care is maintained. The ancillary services
are all available on Thursday nights: student technicians
provide a simple laboratory service; physiotherapy stu­
dents are of great help in dealing with the asthmatics,
bronchitics and other physically disabled persons of whom
there are a great many in Windermere; student radio­
graphers operate the X-ray unit which was recently
presented to the clinic; and student nurses add to the
charm and efficiency of the surgery. Thus the clinic is

pretty well self-contained and since there are alway con­
sultants in attendance, very few patients need to be referred
to the hospitals.

On Tuesday afternoon, the 'General Practice linic'
is in action. This clinic was establi hed in collaboration
with the UCT Department of Medicine and the ollege
of General Practitioners. It purpo e is primarily teaching.
and it aims at providing student with some experien e
of the range of problems and condition which are een
in generul practice, in contra t to the selected, highly
specialized problems which are usually found in teaching
hospitals. The clinic is taffed by volunteer members of
the College of General Practitioners and by the University
Lecturer in Comprehensive Medicine. 4th and 6th year
students attend in small group, and they are introduced
to those aspects of medical practice which cannot be
dealt with at the hospitals.

Finally, there i the 'Family Health Promotion Clinic'.
which is a new and exciting experiment in medical training
and practice. ]n 1962, 25 4th year tudent were elected
for this scheme. Each student wa allocated to a needy
Windermere family to which he became the 'family doc­
tor'. These students are responsible for the management
of their families in the most comprehensive sense of the
word. Apart from dealing with any illnes e which may
arise, they are also concerned with health promotion.
disease prevention and the social welfare of the persons
in their care. Home visiting is a feature and students
leave their telephone numbers so that they can be called
for emergencies. Of cour e, they do not pre cribe more
than mild symptomatic treatment without professional
advice, but they have often ensured that medical treat­
ment is not delayed by taking their patient up to a
hospital casualty department or to the SHAWCO clinic.
Students have the opportunity of seeing expectant mother
throughout their antenatal period, of guiding small children
through the various stages of feeding and immunization
prcgrammes, and of witnessing the effects of individual
ill-health on the family as a whole. They advise on
nutrition, and through the SHAWCO welfare service they
help with clothing and blankets. Students have used their
influence to find employment even for unemployables
and those who want work, and they have helped shanty
dwellers to establish themselves in better homes. On
Wednesday afternoons a full consultative service - medi­
cal, sociological and nutriticnal- is available for the
'family doctors' at the Windermere Centre, and when
special problems arise an expert is often invited to conduct
a tutorial class on the subject. This scheme works in close
collaboration with the SHAWCO nutrition service which
makes skim-milk, fish, vegetables and other commodities
available at very little cost. Largely as a result of the
health-promotion activities of the medical students, 80
gallons of skim-milk are sold daily at SHAWCO.

Seventy five per cent. of the medical students participate
in SHAWCO activities.

It is still too early to assess the effect of these activities
on the students and on the Windermere community.
However, very few will doubt that the health of the people
will inevitably be benefited and that through SHAWCO
the medical students of the University of Cape Town are
more than ever being prepared for service to mankind.


